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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

 
This case involves the application of settled principles of law to well-

supported factual findings.  The National Labor Relations Board (“the Board”) 

believes that the Court can fairly decide the case on the briefs without oral 

argument.  However, if the Court decides that argument is necessary, the Board 

requests that it be permitted to participate. 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 
 

This case is before the Court on the petition of Lou’s Transport, Inc. and 

T.K.M.S., Inc. (collectively “the Company”) to review, and the cross-application 

of the Board to enforce, a Board Decision and Order issued against the Company 

on December 16, 2014, and reported at 361 NLRB No. 158.  (A. 10-26.)1  The 

Board had subject matter jurisdiction over the proceeding below pursuant to 

Section 10(a) of the National Labor Relations Act (“the Act”) (29 U.S.C. §§ 151, 

160(a)), which empowers the Board to prevent unfair labor practices affecting 

commerce.   

The Board’s Order is final with respect to all parties.  The Company filed its 

petition on January 15, 2015, and the Board cross-applied for enforcement on 

February 24, 2015.  Both filings were timely because the Act imposes no time limit 

on the initiation of review or enforcement proceedings.  The Court has jurisdiction 

pursuant to Section 10(e) and (f) of the Act (29 U.S.C. § 160(e) and (f)) because 

the unfair labor practices occurred in South Rockwood, Michigan.   

  

1 “A.” references are to the appendix.  “Br.” references are to the Company’s brief.  
Where applicable, references preceding a semicolon are to the Board’s decision; 
those following are to the supporting evidence. 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. Whether the Board is entitled to summary enforcement of its 

uncontested findings that the Company violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by 

issuing verbal warnings to employees Michael Hershey and Timothy Pledger and 

inviting them to quit for engaging in concerted activity protected by Section 7 of 

the Act.  

2. Whether substantial evidence supports the Board’s finding that the 

Company violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by discharging employee Hershey for 

engaging in concerted activity protected by Section 7 of the Act, or, in the 

alternative, because it believed that he was engaging in such activity. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Acting on unfair-labor-practice charges filed by former employees Michael 

Hershey and Jeffrey Rose, the Board’s General Counsel issued a consolidated 

complaint alleging that the Company committed several unfair labor practices.  (A. 

74-81.)  On June 5, 2014, following a hearing, an administrative law judge found 

that the Company violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by disciplining Hershey and 

employee Timothy Pledger because they engaged in protected concerted 

discussions about working conditions, and by inviting them to quit because of 

those discussions.  (A. 19-21.)  The judge also found that the Company violated 

Section 8(a)(1) when it discharged Hershey because he engaged in protected 
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concerted activities by discussing unsafe working conditions in a radio 

conversation with Pledger and by later posting signs in his truck publicizing his 

complaints about safety and working conditions that were viewed and discussed by 

other employees.  (A. 25.) 2   

On review, the Board affirmed the administrative law judge’s rulings, 

findings, and conclusions, as modified, and adopted the judge’s recommended 

order.  As relevant to Hershey’s discharge, the Board agreed with the judge’s 

conclusion that his discharge was unlawful.  The Board explained that Hershey 

was discharged for two reasons—his radio conversation with Pledger and the signs 

he displayed in his truck—and found that because it was undisputed that the radio 

conversation was protected concerted activity, that that was sufficient to find his 

discharge was unlawfully motivated.  (A. 10.)  Alternatively, that Board held that, 

even if Hershey was discharged solely for displaying the signs as the Company 

contended, his discharge was nonetheless unlawful because the Company’s 

unlawful motivation was established by the record evidence demonstrating that the 

Company believed that Hershey’s display of signs in his truck was protected 

concerted activity.  (A. 11.)  Because those two conclusions are independent, 

2 The judge dismissed the allegation that the Company discharged Rose because he 
engaged in protected concerted activities by complaining during a safety meeting.  
(A. 23.)  Rose’s discharge is not at issue here.  
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alternative rationales for Hershey’s discharge, either is a sufficient basis for this 

Court to uphold the Board’s finding that his discharge violated Section 8(a)(1).   

I. THE BOARD’S FINDING OF FACT 

A. The Company’s Operations 
 

The Sylvania Quarry is a limestone and sandstone quarry that is considered 

to be a mine under the Mine Safety Hazard Administration.  (A. 14; 701, 1013, 

1038, 1122.).  The Sylvania jobsite was headed up by Great Lakes Aggregate and 

involved removing limestone and sandstone from the quarry.  (A. 14; 1010-12.)  

Great Lakes Aggregate contracts with Dan’s Excavating to extract and load 

limestone and sandstone from the quarry.  (A. 14; 950-51, 981-82.)  In order to 

reach the quarry’s reserves, however, it is necessary to remove a top layer of dirt 

and clay.  (A. 14; 757-59.)  For that reason, Dan’s Excavating subcontracts with 

the Company to transport this dirt and clay from a pit area to another location on 

the quarry property.   (A. 14; 757-59.)    

The Company is owned by Dan Israel.  (A. 14; 1114, 1132.)  Jeff Laming (J. 

Laming), is the Company’s operations manager.  (A. 14; 703, 728, 1083.)  David 

Laming (D. Laming) is J. Laming’s brother and is the Company’s sales manager, 

but is considered the Company’s general manager.  (A. 14; 728, 1109.)  Sean 

Schmidt supervised the Company’s drivers at the quarry and ran the day-to-day 

operations.  (A. 14; 699-700.)  Schmidt visited the quarry up to four times a day, 
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where he inspected the roads, checked in with the drivers, and answered questions.  

(A. 14; 699, 700.)  Schmidt reported to J. Laming.  (A. 14; 703.)  

The Company employs approximately 20 truck drivers to transport the dirt 

and clay from the quarry to a “dumpsite” less than one mile away from the 

quarry’s pit area.  (A. 14; 757.)  The drivers used semi-trailer trucks, which 

consisted of a truck cabin that pulled a dump trailer, which contained the dirt and 

clay.  (A. 776-77.)  The Company sought to run 16 trucks per day and had some 

difficulty hiring additional drivers for the grueling job.  (A. 18; 783, 787-88.)  

Drivers work one shift, 7:00 am to 5:00 pm, sometimes seven days a week.  (A. 

747.)  To reach the dumpsite, the drivers have to cross a public roadway.  (A. 757-

58, 1111-12.)  The drivers make about 25-35 runs a day between the quarry and the 

dumpsite.  (A. 723.)  Lou’s Transport drivers were represented by a union but the 

T.K.M.S. drivers were not represented by a union.  (A. 14 n.2; 755.) 

The Company circulated rules to the drivers that set out the Company’s 

“core values,” one of which instructed drivers to “overlook the chatter.”  (A. 10, 

15; 674.)  J. Laming explained this rule by stating, that “drivers especially, they get 

on their [radios] and they, you know chatter about things, you know; overlooking 

the rumors and all the stuff that goes on.”  (A. 15; 1095.)  Despite the rule, J. 

Laming acknowledged that drivers, who are in their trucks all day, often talk 
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amongst themselves over their radios and that there was “a lot of chatter going on.”  

(A. 1095; 729-30.)   

B. Working Conditions at the Quarry; Employees Are 
Troubled by the Company’s Failure To Respond to Their 
Safety Concerns 
 

The working conditions for the Company’s truck drivers are grueling.  (A. 

14; 765, 775, 1076.)  The roads the drivers use are unpaved and made of clay, dirt, 

and sometimes stone on top.  (A. 14; 724, 988-89, 1012, 1132.)  The roads are 

“very slippery and become more so when they are wet or thawing after a freeze.”  

(A. 14; 780-81.)  As a result, the roads are “quite poor,” resulting in “extreme wear 

and tear to the trucks.”  (A. 14; 722-23, 780-81, 947.)  For example, the trucks 

frequently had flat tires, which the Company often replaced with bald tires that 

were similarly dangerous.  (A. 724-25, 893, 951-52, 989.)  Trucks often got stuck 

in the soft clay of the quarry and had to be pushed by an excavator.  (A. 780-81.)  

In addition, one of the trucks flipped over at the quarry, and the trucks were 

operated in close proximity to drops as much as 200 feet.  (A. 14; 775, 780-82.)   

The truck drivers were dissatisfied with the lack of effort that the Company 

made to keep the roads safe.  (A. 14; 702, 724, 729, 988-89, 1003.)  In fact, every 

driver complained to Schmidt about the roads and the resulting deterioration of the 

trucks.  (A. 14; 702, 729, 740, 991.)   
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C. Hershey and Pledger Discuss Their Safety Concerns; the 
Company Reprimands Hershey and Pledger  

 
It was common for drivers to use the company radios to talk to each other 

and discuss their working conditions.  (A. 765, 885.)  On January 7, 2013, Hershey 

and Timothy Pledger, another driver, had a conversation over the radios in their 

trucks.  (A. 15; 765.)  They used a channel that drivers believed was neither used 

nor monitored by the Company.  (A. 15; 994, 1003.)  Hershey and Pledger 

discussed the hazardous road conditions and the resulting damage done to the their 

trucks.  (A. 15; 765.)  Pledger told Hershey that he had to pay a $600 traffic fine 

for driving on bad tires that the Company refused to fix.  (A. 15; 766, 993.)  

Hershey explained how the Company failed to give him two new tires that he 

needed until he was pulled over on his way to the dumpsite by the police, who 

wrote him a ticket about the tires and other problems with his truck.  (A. 15; 766-

67, 993.)  Hershey explained that when he gave the Company the ticket, he was 

told all of the parts had been on back order for six weeks.  (A. 15; 765-70.)  The 

two drivers were concerned about the tickets because tickets adversely affected 

their ratings as commercial drivers.  (A. 16; 994-95, 1005.)  Finally, Hershey and 

Pledger spoke about how they thought the owner was cheap for failing to properly 

maintain the equipment.  (A. 16; 765-70, 818.)  

Unbeknownst to Hershey and Pledger, D. Laming was listening in on their 

radio conversation.  (A. 16; 1112, 1134-35.)  While they were conversing, D. 
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Laming alerted Dan Israel, the owner, who listened in as well.  (A. 16; 1114, 

1135.)  D. Laming was “enraged” by the discussion between Hershey and Pledger.  

(A. 16; 1114.)   D. Laming wanted to fire the two employees; Israel talked him out 

of it, saying that the men may have been “blowing off steam” and D. Laming 

should talk to them.  (A. 16; 1114-15.)  

The next day, D. Laming met with Hershey and Pledger.  (A. 16.)  D. 

Laming revealed that he had listened to their radio conversation and asked, “Why 

are you still here?” and told them that he didn’t like their “attitudes.”  (A. 16; 770-

71, 821, 996-97.)  He also told them that the Company spent “a lot of money and 

equipment to repair things and if [Hershey and Pledger] have a problem, [they] 

need to find a different place to work.”  (A. 16; 770-71, 821, 996-97.)  He  stated 

that “if . . . per  your conversation you think this is [a] terrible place to work, you 

know, I would never work anywhere that I wasn’t happy working, and why do you 

work here?”  (A. 16; 770-71, 821, 996-97.)  Pledger and Hershey apologized for 

their comments and said they had not meant for company officials to hear the 

conversation.  D. Laming prepared disciplinary paperwork stating Hershey 

received a “verbal warning for bad mouthing [the] company and improper 

language on company radio.”  (A. 16; 1116.)  D. Laming also prepared separate 

paperwork documenting a verbal warning for Pledger.  (A. 16; 1136.) 
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D. After Having His Safety Concerns Ignored, Hershey 
Displays Signs in His Truck 

 
About a week after the radio conversation he had with Pledger, Hershey 

began displaying handmade signs written on 8 ½ by 11 inch paper on the 

dashboard of his truck.  (A. 16; 783, 844-45.)  Each time something happened at 

the jobsite, he would create a new sign, and drive around the quarry until everyone 

had seen it.  (A. 16; 783-84.)  For example, when the employees were having 

problems receiving accurate paychecks, Hershey put up a “PAYCHECK ON 

ORDER” sign.  (A. 508, 785-86.)  Employees viewed the signs, acknowledged the 

signs with thumbs-up responses, laughed at them, and discussed them.  (A. 16; 

785, 823, 957-59, 998, 1006.) 

Among the signs Hershey displayed were ones that read: “BRAKES ON 

ORDER”; “REAL LIFE ON ORDER”; “ICE ROAD THIS!”; “GOT TIRES?”; 

“TIRES ‘R’ US”; “SLIPPERY WHEN WET”; “DRIVERS WANTED”; SHOOT 

ME PLEASE!” and “HELP!”  (A. 16; 502-17.)  The “BRAKES ON ORDER,” 

“GOT TIRES,” and “TIRES ‘R’US” signs were in reference to the long delay 

drivers experienced in order to get replacement parts for their trucks.  (A. 786-89.)  

Hershey created the signs after the Company fired an employee for getting three 

flat tires.  (A. 787, 776.)  Hershey’s sign “REAL LIFE ON ORDER” referred to 

the Company’s failure to give the drivers breaks.  (A. 786.)  Hershey created the 

“DRIVERS WANTED” sign because so many drivers quit working for the 
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Company because of the bad working conditions.  (A. 787-88.)  Employees’ jokes 

“shoot me, take me out of my misery [of the worksite],” inspired one of Hershey’s 

signs: “SHOOT ME PLEASE.”  (A. 790.)  “ICE ROAD THIS” referred to a reality 

TV show, Ice Road Truckers, in which truck drivers drive across icy and 

dangerous roads to deliver materials to remote villages.  (A. 786-87.)  Finally, the 

sign “SLIPPERY WHEN WET” referred to the road conditions when drivers were 

driving on wet ice.  (A. 789.)  

Two of the signs referenced the Company’s “JDL” certification, which the 

Company assigned to all trucks.  (A. 788.)  Hershey learned when he got pulled 

over by the state police that the JDL certification was not an independent safety 

certification as he had believed but was merely a certification the Company 

invented that stood for “Jeffrey and David Laming” certified.  (A. 16; 787-89, 

819.)  The signs “J.D.L. THIS!” and “I GOT YOUR J.D.L. RIGHT HERE,”  were 

intended to poke fun at the internal certification because the Company was 

certifying the trucks were safe, yet would not properly fix them when the drivers 

requested.  (A. 789, 819.)  Two of the 16 signs did not concern working conditions.  

(A. 502, 505, 790, 823, 964.)   
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E. The Drivers Organize a Work Stoppage Because of Their 
Safety Concerns; Hershey Complains About Working 
Conditions During a Safety Meeting; Two Days Later, the 
Company Discharges Hershey   
 

After Hershey began displaying his signs, one February day where the roads 

were especially slick, the drivers spoke to each other on their company radios and 

collectively refused to continue the day’s work because the road conditions were 

unsafe.  The drivers were sent home.  (A. 14; 807, 877, 1070.)  According to D. 

Laming, the drivers “basically boycotted” because they felt the roads were muddy 

and “unsafe.”  (A. 14; 1070-71.)  

On March 25, a safety meeting was held at which the owner of the quarry, 

Bill Begley, addressed all employees.  (A. 18; 793-94, 830, 859, 887, 1044.)  

Begley discussed the importance of the federal rules regarding mine safety and 

encouraged drivers to give him their input.  (A. 18; 1014-15.)  Hershey spoke up 

and stated that drivers were upset because of the dangerous road conditions.  (A. 

18; 795-97.)  Schmidt attended the meeting and knew of Hershey’s concerns about 

the road conditions.  (A. 18.) 

Two days after the safety meeting, J. Laming became aware that drivers had 

been talking about Hershey’s signs.  (A. 19; 1087.)  He called site supervisor 

Schmidt at about 5:00 a.m. and asked him to check Hershey’s truck, which was 

parked in the company lot, to see if there were any signs in the truck.  (A. 19; 702-

05.)  After Schmidt removed Hershey’s signs, J. Laming came to the worksite.  
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Hershey’s signs “upset” him because Hershey was talking about working 

conditions which “99.9 percent of us work so hard to make right every day.”  (A. 

19; 1101.)  It disturbed him that the other drivers were talking about the signs.  (A. 

19; 1087, 1089, 1100.)  In particular, J. Laming thought the signs stating “JDL 

THIS,” “PAYCHECK ON ORDER,” “REAL LIFE ON ORDER,” and “BREAKS 

ON ORDER” were “stirring up the crowd.”  (A. 19; 1101.)  In addition, he found 

Hershey’s signs “offensive” because they mocked the “JDL” certification and were 

“talking derogatory about the [C]ompany.”  (A. 19; 1087, 1090-91.)  

J. Laming contacted D. Laming and told him about the signs.  (A. 19; 1091-

92.)  The two also discussed the January 7 radio conversation between Hershey 

and Pledger and concluded that Hershey was “still talking bad” about the 

Company.  (A. 19; 1088.)  In particular, D. Laming believed that signs were 

“especially inappropriate following the discussion” he had with Hershey in January 

about badmouthing the Company.  (A. 19; 1127-28.)  The brothers decided that 

“enough’s enough.”  (A. 1088.)  The Lamings discharged Hershey “due to the 

signs” and “also the fact that [the Company] had previously spoken to [Hershey] 

regarding his behavior.”  (A. 19; 1091-92.)  

II. THE BOARD’S CONCLUSIONS AND ORDER 

On December 16, 2014, the Board (Members Miscimarra, Johnson, and 

Schiffer) found, in agreement with the administrative law judge, that in response to 
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overhearing the radio conversation, the Company violated Section 8(a)(1) of the 

Act by issuing verbal warnings to Hershey and Pledger and by inviting them to 

quit because they engaged in protected concerted activity.  (A. 10 n.3.)  The Board 

also agreed with the judge that the Company violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by 

discharging Hershey.  The Board explained that he was discharged for two 

reasons—his radio conversation with Pledger and the signs he displayed in his 

truck—and found that because it was undisputed that the radio conversation was 

protected concerted activity, that that was sufficient to find his discharge was 

unlawfully motivated.  (A. 10.)  Alternatively, that Board held that, if even 

Hershey were discharged solely because of the signs as the Company contended, 

his discharge was nonetheless unlawful because the Company’s unlawful 

motivation was established by the record evidence demonstrating that the 

Company believed that Hershey’s display of signs in his truck was protected 

concerted activity.  (A. 11.)   

To remedy the violations, the Board’s Order requires the Company to cease 

and desist from the unfair labor practices found and from, in any like or related 

manner, interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 

statutory rights.  (A. 11-13.)  Affirmatively, the Board’s Order requires the 

Company to post a remedial notice, remove from Hershey’s and Pledger’s files any 

reference to the unlawful verbal warnings, offer Hershey full reinstatement to his 
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former job or a substantially equivalent position, and make him whole for any lost 

earnings and benefits.  (A. 12.)   

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The Court must defer to the Board’s factual determinations, as long as they 

are supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole.  See 29 U.S.C. § 

160(e); Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 477, 488 (1951); Peters 

v. NLRB, 153 F.3d 289, 294 (6th Cir. 1998).  “Substantial evidence means such 

relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support the 

conclusion.”  Dupont Dow Elastomers, LLC v. NLRB, 296 F.3d 495, 500 (6th Cir. 

2002).  Where substantial evidence supports a Board decision, the Court will 

uphold the decision even if it might “justifiably have made a different choice had 

the matter been before the court de novo.”  NLRB v. Okun Bros. Shoe Store, Inc., 

825 F.2d 102, 105 (6th Cir. 1987) (citing Universal Camera Corp., 340 U.S. at 

488). 

Where, as here, there is a question as to an employer’s motivation in 

discharging an employee, the Court will review the Board’s finding of unlawful 

motivation under the same substantial evidence standard.  Universal Camera 

Corp., 340 U.S. at 487-88.  See also NLRB v. Howell Automatic Mach. Co., 454 

F.2d 1077, 1080 (6th Cir.1972) (“The question as to the Company’s motivation in 

firing is a factual one to be determined primarily by the Trial Examiner and the 
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Board”); NLRB v. Murray–Ohio Mfg. Co., 358 F.2d 948, 950 (6th Cir.1966) (“The 

motivation was a question of fact to be determined by the Board from 

consideration of all the evidence.”). 

As with the Board’s factual findings, the Court reviews the Board’s 

application of law to facts under the substantial evidence standard.  Holly Farms 

Corp. v. NLRB, 517 U.S. 391, 398-99 (1996); NLRB v. Mead Corp., 73 F.3d 74, 78 

(6th Cir. 1996).  Further, as the Supreme Court has explained: “For the Board to 

prevail, it need not show that its construction is the best way to read the statute; 

rather, courts must respect the Board’s judgment so long as its reading is a 

reasonable one.”  Holly Farms, 517 U.S. at 409; see also Lee v. NLRB, 325 F.3d 

749, 754 (6th Cir. 2003).  

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT  

1. The Board is entitled to summary enforcement of its uncontested 

findings that the Company violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by issuing verbal 

warnings to employees Michael Hershey and Timothy Pledger and inviting them to 

quit for engaging in concerted activity protected by Section 7 of the Act.  Having 

failed to except to the administrative law judge’s findings on those issues before 

the Board, the issues are jurisdictionally barred from judicial review, and are 

otherwise waived before the Court because the Company did not contest them in 

its opening brief.   
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2. The Board’s findings that the Company violated Section 8(a)(1) of the 

Act by discharging employee Hershey for engaging in concerted activity protected 

by Section 7 of the Act, or, in the alternative, because it believed that he was 

engaging in such activity, are fully supported by the credited evidence and 

consistent with law.  Because, as the Board found, the Company discharged 

Hershey both for his radio conversation with Pledger and the signs he displayed in 

his truck, and it is undisputed that the radio conversation was protected concerted 

activity, a finding of unlawful motivation is justified on that basis alone.  (A. 10.)  

Nor could the Company have prevailed if it had disputed the point, given that 

Hershey’s radio conversation with Pledger – which directly related to the safety 

concerns of the drivers and the Company’s failure to address them – falls squarely 

within a well-established category of activity protected under the Act.  

Accordingly, the Board reasonably concluded that, because the protected concerted 

radio conversation was an admitted reason for Hershey’s discharge, the discharge 

was unlawful.  

Alternatively, that Board held that, even if Hershey was discharged solely 

for displaying the signs, as the Company contended, his discharge was unlawful 

because the Company’s unlawful motivation was established by the record 

evidence amply demonstrating that the Company believed that Hershey’s display 

of signs in his truck was protected concerted activity.  (A. 11.)  The Board has long 
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held, with court approval, that an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) when it takes 

adverse action against an employee based on its belief that the employee had 

engaged in protected Section 7 activity, and that such a belief alone is sufficient to 

establish an unlawful motive.  Here, the company officials who discharged 

Hershey admitted he was discharged because they believed Hershey was causing 

“trouble,” “stirring up the crowd,” and was getting the other drivers “riled up.”  

The Company’s admission that it was motivated to discharge Hershey because his 

signs prompted discussions among the drivers concerning their unsafe working 

conditions, a quintessential form of concerted activity, constitutes a sufficient, 

alternative basis in support of the Board’s finding that Hershey’s discharge 

violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 

The Company’s contentions present no basis for the Court to disturb the 

Board’s unfair labor practice findings.  Rather, they run the gamut from 

misstatements of the law and record, to misrepresentations of the Board’s findings.  

Accordingly, the Board’s findings should be upheld, and its Order enforced in full. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE BOARD IS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY ENFORCEMENT 
OF ITS UNCONTESTED FINDINGS  
 

Before the Board, the Company failed to file exceptions to the 

administrative law judge’s findings that it violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by 

issuing verbal warnings to Hershey and Pledger and by inviting them to quit based 
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on their January 7 radio conversation.  (A. 10 n.3.)  The judge found this 

conversation, which involved a discussion of working conditions, constituted 

protected concerted activity.  (A. 19-20, 21.)  In the absence of exceptions, the 

Board adopted those findings.  (A. 10 n.3.)   

When a party fails to file exceptions with the Board regarding particular 

violations, the Board is entitled to summary enforcement of the portions of its 

Order remedying those violations because the party failed to challenge them before 

the Board.3  Section 10(e) of the Act specifies that “[n]o objection that has not 

been urged before the Board . . . shall be considered by the court, unless the failure 

or neglect to urge such objection shall be excused because of extraordinary 

circumstances.”  29 U.S.C. § 160(e).  This limitation is jurisdictional and its 

application is mandatory.  See Woelke & Romero Framing, Inc. v. NLRB, 456 U.S. 

645, 665-67 (1982); S. Moldings, Inc. v. NLRB, 728 F.2d 805, 806 (6th Cir. 1984).   

Interpreting this requirement, this Court has consistently held that a party’s 

failure to file exceptions before the Board entitles the Board, absent extraordinary 

circumstances, to summary enforcement of that portion of the Order.  See Tocco 

Div. of Park-Ohio Indus., Inc. v. NLRB, 702 F.2d 624, 625 (6th Cir. 1983); NLRB 

v. Tri-State Warehouse & Distrib., Inc., 677 F.2d 31, 31 (6th Cir. 1982); NLRB v. 

3 The Company is mistaken in suggesting (Br. 34-35) that its failure to file 
exceptions contesting this finding limits the force of the Board’s holding that the 
employees were engaged in protected concerted activity during this conversation. 
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Globe-Wernicke Sys. Co., 336 F.2d 589, 589 (6th Cir. 1964).  No extraordinary 

circumstances exist, nor does the Company allege any, that would excuse its 

failure to file with the Board, exceptions to the judge’s findings that it violated 

Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by issuing verbal warnings to Hershey and Pledger and 

by inviting them to quit based on their January 7 radio conversation. 

Moreover, by not raising any argument in its opening brief concerning these 

violations, the Company has essentially “‘admitted the truth of those findings.’”  

FiveCAP Inc. v. NLRB, 294 F.3d 768, 791 (6th Cir. 2002) (quoting NLRB v. Gen. 

Fabrications Corp., 222 F.3d 218, 232 (6th Cir. 2000)).  See also NLRB v. Talsol 

Corp., 155 F.3d 785, 793-94 (6th Cir. 1998) (failure to raise argument in opening 

brief constitutes waiver of the argument).4   

Thus, the Board is entitled to summary enforcement of its uncontested 

violations, which however, “do not disappear” from the case.  Gen. Fabrications 

Corp., 222 F. 3d at 232 (quoting Talsol Corp., 155 F.3d at 793).  Rather, “[t]hey 

remain, lending their aroma to the context in which the contested issues are 

considered.”  Id.   

4 In its statement of facts, the Company erroneously asserts that D. Laming “did 
not encourage [Hershey and Pledger] to quit” and “did not encourage Hershey to 
resign as a result of the radio incident.”  (Br. 9, 10.)  Such assertions “alluded to  
. . . in the statement of facts” without any supporting argumentation, are considered 
waived.  AMSC Subsidiary Corp. v. FCC, 216 F.3d 1154, 1161 n.** (D.C. Cir. 
2000).  A party must do more than “merely mention a possible argument in the 
most skeletal way, leaving the [C]ourt to do counsel’s work.”  United States v. 
Zannino, 895 F.2d 1, 17 (1st Cir. 1990). 
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II. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE BOARD’S 
FINDING THAT THE COMPANY VIOLATED SECTION 8(a)(1) 
OF THE ACT BY DISCHARGING EMPLOYEE HERSHEY  

 
The Board agreed with the administrative law judge’s conclusion that the 

Company unlawfully discharged employee Hershey, but found, on the record in 

this case, two separate bases for finding his discharge unlawful, either of which is 

sufficient for the Court to uphold the unfair labor practice finding.  First, the Board 

explained that Hershey was discharged for two reasons—his radio conversation 

with Pledger and the signs he displayed in his truck—and found that because it was 

undisputed that the radio conversation was protected concerted activity, that that 

was sufficient to find his discharge was unlawfully motivated.  (A. 10.)  Regarding 

the radio conversation, the Board found that Hershey exercised his Section 7 rights 

in a conversation with Pledger to discuss their mutual concerns about the unsafe 

conditions the truck drivers faced when working in the quarry.  (A. 11.)  Indeed, it 

was undisputed before the Board that Hershey’s radio conversation with Pledger 

constituted protected concerted activity.  Accordingly, the Board concluded, 

“because the protected concerted radio conversation was a reason for Hershey’s 

discharge, we find the discharge unlawful.”  (A. 11.) 

Second, in the alternative, the Board found that Hershey’s discharge was 

unlawful even if it were assumed, as the Company argued, that he was discharged 

solely for displaying signs in his truck concerning the unsafe working conditions 
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that the drivers faced when working in the quarry.  As the Board explained, the 

record evidence demonstrates that the Company believed that Hershey’s display of 

the signs was protected concerted activity, which is sufficient to prove that the 

Company had an unlawful motive in discharging him.  As shown below, the 

Board’s findings are supported by substantial evidence and should be upheld by 

the Court.    

A. The Company Unlawfully Discharged Hershey for his Radio 
Conversation with Pledger which was Protected Concerted 
Activity  
 

Section 7 of the Act guarantees employees the right to self-organization and 

to engage in “concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other 

mutual aid or protection.”  29 U.S.C. § 157.  The right to engage in concerted 

activity for mutual aid and protection is protected by Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, 

which makes it an unfair labor practice for an employer “to interfere with, restrain, 

or coerce employees in the exercise” of their Section 7 rights.  29 U.S.C. § 

158(a)(1).  Thus, an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) by discharging an employee 

for engaging in concerted activity protected by Section 7.  NLRB v. City Disposal 

Sys., 465 U.S. 822, 825, 833 n.10 (1984); NLRB v. Wash. Aluminum Co., 370 U.S. 

9, 17 (1962).   

As this Court has stated, the only restriction that the Act places upon an 

employer’s right to discharge employees “is that it not be because of [protected] 
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activity.”  NLRB v. Challenge-Cook Bros. of Ohio, Inc., 374 F.2d 147, 151 (6th 

Cir. 1967).  Thus, “[e]ven if there might be a justifiable reason for the discharge of 

an employee, if the real motive for the firing is discrimination against him because 

of his [protected activities], there is a violation of the Act.”  Id. at 151.  The critical 

inquiry is whether the employer’s decision to discharge an employee was 

motivated by the employee’s protected activity.  Meijer, Inc. v. NLRB, 463 F.3d 

534, 542 (6th Cir. 2006).   

1. Hershey engaged in protected concerted activity when 
he discussed unsafe working conditions with Pledger  
 

It is undisputed, as the Company admits (Br. 34), that it failed to except to 

the administrative law judge’s finding that Hershey’s January 7 radio conversation 

with Pledger was protected concerted activity.  As a result, it is too late for the 

Company to contest that finding, which is now jurisdictionally barred from judicial 

review.  See 29 U.S.C. § 160(e), and cases cited at pp. 19-20.  Moreover, there is 

no basis to object to this finding because Hershey and Pledger’s conversation about 

the difficult working conditions was clearly protected concerted activity.   

It is well established that employees’ complaints about their working 

conditions are protected by Section 7.  See Wash. Aluminum Co., 370 U.S. at 14; 

Gatliff Coal Co. v. NLRB, 953 F.2d 247, 251 (6th Cir. 1992) (“employee activities 

are protected by [Section] 7 where the activities can reasonably be seen as 

affecting the terms or conditions of employment.”)  Because workplace safety 
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concerns clearly affect conditions of employment, it is settled that employee 

complaints about unsafe conditions are protected under the Act.  See Wash. 

Aluminum Co., 370 U.S. at 15 (employee walkout to protest “bitter cold” was 

protected concerted activity); Talsol Corp., 155 F.3d at 797 (employee objection to 

safety practices was protected activity); NLRB v. McEver Eng’g, Inc., 784 F.2d 

634, 641-42 (5th Cir. 1986) (employee protest about unsafe working conditions 

was protected activity).    

An employee’s action qualifies as “concerted” if it bears some relationship 

to actual or planned group activity.  Myers Ind., 281 NLRB 882, 887 (1986), 

enforced sub nom., Prill v. NLRB, 835 F.2d 1481 (D.C. Cir. 1987); see also NLRB 

v. Lloyd A. Fry Roofing Co., 651 F.2d 442, 445 (6th Cir. 1981) (“An individual 

employee’s complaint is ‘concerted’ if it is related to group action for the mutual 

aid or protection of other employees.”).  Accordingly, the relevant inquiry in 

determining whether an employee’s action was concerted, therefore, “is whether 

the employee acted with the purpose of furthering group goals.”  Compuware 

Corp. v. NLRB, 134 F.3d 1285, 1288 (6th Cir. 1998).  The Act does not require that 

“employees combine with one another in any particular way,” or that the 

employees formally form a group or designate a spokesperson to be considered 

concerted.  City Disposal Sys., 465 U.S. at 835.   
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Hershey’s radio conversation with Pledger – which directly related to the 

safety concerns of the drivers and the Company’s failure to address them – falls 

squarely within a well-established category of protected activity under the Act.  As 

shown above (pp. 8-9), Hershey and Pledger discussed the perilous condition of 

the quarry roads and the ensuing damage done to the trucks, which caused the 

drivers to deal with, among other things, flat and bald tires.  Hershey and Pledger 

were troubled by tickets they received while working because the tickets had the 

prospect of negatively impacting their ratings as commercial drivers.  In addition, 

the failure of the Company’s owner to address the issue, primarily because, as they 

put it, he was a “cheap-skate,” concerned the drivers.  (A. 16.)  Moreover, the 

discussion constituted concerted activity because, as the Board found (A. 11, 19-

20), it was a logical outgrowth of the ongoing safety concerns all the truck drivers 

had about the quarry roads and the condition of their trucks.  As the Board found, 

“every one of the more than 20 drivers at the quarry brought their complaints about 

the condition of the roads and the trucks to [the Company’s] attention.”  (A. 19.)  

As such, Hershey and Pledger were discussing not individual concerns, but group 

complaints about the unsafe condition of the roads and the trucks.   

Additionally, after the radio conversation, Hershey continued to express his 

concerns with the safety issues, crafting signs that he displayed on his truck and 

driving around so employees could see them.  Providing further evidence that 
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Hershey’s activity reflected the drivers’ common concerns about unsafe working 

conditions, the drivers in February became so concerned about their safety that 

they engaged in a group work stoppage and were sent home by the Company.  (A. 

1070-71.)  Here, as the Board explained, Hershey’s conversation with Pledger 

“was part of the process of building sentiment and solidarity around the view that 

the safety of the roads and trucks had to be improved, and, therefore, their 

conversation was part of the process that might, and did, include employees 

seeking those improvements from [the Company].”  (A. 20.)  Thus, the Board’s 

finding that the radio conversation constituted protected concerted activity is well 

supported.   

2. The Company discharged Hershey because of his 
protected concerted conduct  

 
This is the rare case where, as the Board found, the two company officials 

who made the decision to fire Hershey – David and Jeffrey Laming – both 

admitted that Hershey’s radio conversation with Pledger was a reason they 

discharged him, and before the Board the Company did not dispute that the 

conversation constituted protected concerted activity.  (A. 11, 23.)  Therefore, 

because their decision to discharge Hershey was admittedly motivated by his 

protected activity in speaking with Pledger in their radio conversation, his 

discharge violated the Act.  See Challenge-Cook Bros., 374 F.2d at 151 (discharge 
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was motivated by protected activity and employer did not establish a non-

discriminatory reason for its action).   

Ample record evidence supports the Board’s finding.  D. Laming admitted 

that he was motivated to discharge Hershey because he had “spoken to [Hershey] 

about the conversations over the radio.”  (A. 1127.)  He reiterated that, in addition 

to Hershey’s display of the signs on this truck, he discharged Hershey because he 

had “previously spoken to [Hershey] regarding” the radio conversation with 

Pledger.  (A. 1127-28.)  If there were any remaining doubt, D. Laming made it 

clear that he believed Hershey’s later display of signs was “especially 

inappropriate following the discussion of the radio incident.”  (A. 1144, 1146.)  

Finally, D. Laming unequivocally agreed to the statement that one of the reasons 

the Company discharged Hershey was because he “badmouth[ed] the company 

over the radio” during his conversation with Pledger.  (A. 1138.) 

J. Laming’s testimony fully corroborates D. Laming’s testimony.  J. Laming 

testified that the Company terminated Hershey in March after Hershey was 

displaying signs on his truck because Hershey was “still talking bad about the 

company.”  (A. 1088.)  J. Laming confirmed that when he stated Hershey was 

“still” talking bad about the company, he was expressly referring to Hershey’s 

January radio conversation with Pledger.  (A. 1099.)   
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Thus, the officials who discharged Hershey admittedly did so based on 

conduct that is uncontestably protected concerted activity.  This conversation, 

which covered the quintessentially protected subject of safety conditions in the 

workplace, mirrored the concerns shared by all the truck drivers working at the 

quarry.  As discussed above (p. 19 n.3), the Company’s sole argument that it had 

no knowledge that this conduct was protected under the Act is precluded by its 

failure to except to the judge’s express finding that the radio conversation was 

protected activity and the Company unlawfully discipline and threatened Hershey 

because of it.5 

Because the Company cannot now contest that Hershey’s radio conversation 

was protected concerted activity, and the Company officials who discharged 

Hershey admittedly were motivated by this protected activity, the Court can uphold 

the Board’s finding of unlawful discharge on this basis alone.  However, as 

demonstrated below, the Board’s second, alternative basis for finding Hershey’s 

5  Similarly, the Company’s belated suggestion (Br. 35-36) that Hershey and 
Pledger’s conversation was intended to be private, and therefore was not concerted 
or protected, comes too late.  See pp. 18-20, above.  In any event, it is well-settled 
that private conversations among employees are concerted if they relate to matters 
that are common to other employees.  See, e.g., Sencore, Inc., 223 NLRB 113 
(1976) (employee’s discharge after supervisor overheads her private complaint 
about an inadequate pay increase was unlawful because conversation was protected 
concerted activity), enforced, 558 F.2d 433 (8th Cir. 1977).  See also St. Margaret 
Mercy Healthcare Ctrs., 350 NLRB 203 (2007), enforced, 519 F.3d 373 (7th Cir. 
2008) (employee discussing a newly implemented evaluation process with other 
employees, which employer overheard, constituted protected concerted activity). 
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discharge unlawful provides a second, independent basis for upholding that 

finding. 

B. Even If the Company Had Discharged Hershey Solely For His 
Display of Signs, the Discharge Was Nonetheless Unlawful 

 
In the alternative, the Board reasonably held that, even if Hershey was 

discharged solely for displaying the signs as the Company contended, his discharge 

was nonetheless unlawful because the Company’s unlawful motivation was 

established by the record evidence demonstrating that the Company believed that 

Hershey’s display of signs in his truck was protected concerted activity.  (A. 11.)  

The Board has long held, with court approval, that an employer violates Section 

8(a)(1) when it takes adverse action against an employee based on its belief that 

the employee engaged in protected Section 7 activity, and that such a belief alone 

is sufficient to establish an unlawful motive.  See U. S. Serv. Indus., 314 NLRB 30, 

30 (1994), enforced mem., 80 F.3d 558 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (action taken on the belief 

that employee engaged in protected concerted activity was unlawful).   

For example, as the Supreme Court explained in upholding a Board finding 

that an employee was unlawfully discharged for his union membership—a 

protected Section 7 right—the discharge was unlawfully motivated because the 

employer “believed, mistakenly it would seem, that [employee] was a [union] 

member.”  NLRB v. Link-Belt Co., 311 U.S. 584, 589-90 (1941).  Similarly, as the 

First Circuit has stated, “proof of an unfair labor practice does not require proof of 
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actual [protected] activity; it is sufficient if the employer was motivated by 

suspected [protected] activity in discharging the employee[].”  Holyoke Visiting 

Nurses Ass’n v. NLRB, 11 F.3d 302, 307 (1st Cir. 1993).  See also Metro. 

Orthopedic Assn., 237 NLRB 427, 427 fn. 3 (1978) (“The discharge of 4 

employees . . . because of [the employer]’s belief, albeit mistaken, that the[y] had 

engaged in protected concerted activities is an unfair labor practice which goes to 

the very heart of the Act.”); San Juan Lumber Co., 144 NLRB 108, 108 n.1 (1963) 

(employer’s discharge of employees based on its belief that employees engaged in 

suspected protected activity was unlawful);  

 As the Board has further explained, both the policies underlying Sections 7 

and 8(a)(1) of the Act and the plain text of Section 8(a)(1) provide a compelling 

rationale for an employer’s belief to be sufficient to prove an unlawful motive. 

Parexel Int’l, 356 NLRB No. 82, 2011 WL 288784, at *6 (2011).  By discharging 

an employee it believes, rightly or wrongly, to have engaged in protected activity, 

the employer sends the message that such activity will not be tolerated.  San Juan 

Lumber Co., 144 NLRB at 108 n.1.  This message necessarily discourages other 

employees who are considering whether to engage in protected activity from doing 

so.  See DaimlerChrysler v. NLRB, 288 F.3d 434, 444 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (it is 

unlawful for employer to “threaten discipline for any future” protected activity).  

Such an effect fully satisfies the requirement of Section 8(a)(1) that conduct must 
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“interfere with, restrain, or coerce” employees in the exercise of statutory rights to 

be unlawful because the statute does not require actual proof of restraint or 

coercion.  See Radio Officers v. NLRB, 347 U.S. 17, 51 (1954).  In other words, 

what is definitive on motive “is not what the employee did, but rather the 

employer’s intent.”  Parexel Int’l, 2011 WL 288784, at *6; see also NLRB v. Hertz 

Corp., 449 F.2d 711, 714-15 (5th Cir. 1971) (“The motivation and conduct being 

tested here is the Company’s–not [the employee]’s.”).  

Here, Hershey’s signs, with only a few exceptions, were humorous 

commentary on the difficult working conditions faced by the Company’s 

employees at the quarry.  They reflected issues with the drivers’ inability to get 

new equipment for their faltering trucks (“Got Tires?”  “Brakes on Order” “Tires 

‘R’ Us” “Seat for Rent”), problems with paychecks (“Paycheck on Order”), and 

concerns about slippery roads (“Ice Road This” “Slippery When Wet”).  Two of 

the signs referenced the safety certificate invented by the Laming brothers, which 

the drivers originally thought was an independent safety certificate (“JDL This!” “I 

Got Your JDL Right Here!”).   

The Company officials who discharged Hershey for displaying signs in the 

window of his truck admitted that it was because they believed that the signs were 

“stirring up the crowd.”  (A. 11; 1101.)   D. Laming acknowledged that he did not 

like the signs because Hershey displayed them for the other drivers to see.  (A. 
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1143.)  J. Laming admitted that he saw the signs as “chatter that is visual” and 

“gets people riled up.”  (A. 1100-01.)   J. Laming admitted that it was those signs, 

mentioning the employees’ working conditions, that were “stirring up the crowd” 

and served as the basis for discharging Hershey.  (A. 1100-01.)    J. Laming further 

acknowledged that when he said Hershey’s signs were causing “trouble,” he was 

explicitly referring to the signs that were addressing “terms and conditions” of 

employment.  (A. 1101.)   In the face of these admissions, the Board reasonably 

found that the Company believed that Hershey was engaged in protected concerted 

activity and was therefore unlawfully motivated in discharging Hershey.  These 

admissions provide “especially persuasive evidence that [the] discharge . . . [was] 

unlawfully motivated.”  Turnbull Cone Baking Co. v. NLRB, 778 F.2d 292, 297 

(6th Cir. 1985);  NLRB v. Ferguson, 257 F.2d 88, 92 (5th Cir. 1958). 

Moreover, the Company’s description of Hershey’s conduct is consistent 

with language used to describe concerted activities engaged in for mutual aid and 

protection—or quintessential protected concerted activity.  For example, in United 

States Service Industries, 314 NLRB at 30-31, the Board found that an employee 

was unlawfully discharged because the employer believed that the employee was 

“stirring up the other workers” by complaining about working conditions.  

Similarly, in W.D. Manor Mech. Contractors, 357 NLRB No. 128, 2011 WL 

6098018, at *18 (2011), the Board viewed an employer’s statement that an 
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employee was “stirring up trouble” as reference to the employee’s protected 

discussions with co-workers.  See also Knoxville Distribution Co., 298 NLRB 688, 

688 (1990) (employer use of term “troublemakers” referred to employees’ 

protected activity and reflected an unlawful motivation), enforced mem., 919 F.2d 

141 (6th Cir. 1990).   

Moreover, the discharging officials’ additional description of Hershey’s 

conduct as “badmouthing” the Company through such signs, is further evidence 

that it believed that conduct fell within the concerted activity protected by the Act.  

At the time of Hershey’s discharge, it is now undisputed that the Company had 

already unlawfully disciplined Hershey and Pledger for “badmouthing” the 

Company during the admittedly protected radio conversation.  D. Laming use the 

same language to explain Hershey’s conduct, while J. Laming stated that Hershey 

was “still talking bad” about the Company.  (A. 19; 1128, 1088.)   Thus the two 

officials clearly viewed the displayed signs as a continuation of Hershey’s earlier 

protected concerted activity, and demonstrate that the Company believed that 

Hershey’s display of the signs in his truck was protected concerted activity. 

For all of these reasons, the Board’s alternative finding that the Company’s 

discharge of Hershey was unlawful is reasonable and supported by substantial 

evidence. 

 



34 
 

C. The Company Fails to Provide a Basis for Overturning the 
Board’s Finding That It Unlawfully Discharged Hershey 
 

Contrary to the Company’s contentions (Br. 25-29), the Board’s decision 

does not depart from the settled principle that an employer must have knowledge 

of the concerted nature of the activity.  The Board has long held that employer 

knowledge of the protected activity is an essential element in Section 8(a)(1) 

discharge and discipline cases.  See, e.g., Reynolds Elec., Inc., 342 NLRB 156, 156 

(2004) (“In an 8(a)(1) discharge or layoff case, the issue is whether the 

decisionmaker knew of the concerted protected activity.”); Walter Brucker & Co., 

273 NLRB 1306, 1307 (1984) (“It is well settled that Section 8(a)(1) of the Act is 

violated only if at the time of the discharge the employer had knowledge of the 

concerted nature of the activity for which the employee was discharged.”).  Here, 

the Board, affirming the judge’s recommended findings, found that the Company 

admitted that Hershey was discharged “because of the complaints about working 

conditions that he publicized on the signs he displayed in the truck he drove at the 

quarry.”  (A.23.)  In light of this admission, and as fully demonstrated above, the 

Company’s claim that it had no knowledge that this activity fell within activity 

protected by the Act rings hollow.   

Also misplaced is the Company’s reliance throughout its brief on Meijer, 

Inc. v. NLRB, 463 F.3d 534 (6th Cir. 2006), and Air Surrey v. NLRB, 601 F.2d 256 

(6th Cir. 1979).  In both cases—in stark contrast to this case—the Court found that 
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the Company was unaware that an employee was engaged in any conduct that 

could have been protected by the Act.  In Meijer, this Court held there was no 

evidence that the employer knew that an employee was soliciting for a rival union 

and only knew that the employee was in the wrong parking lot when it received 

reports that the employee was bothering others in the employee parking lot and 

ordered the employee to leave.  463 F.3d at 541-42.  In reaching its holding, the 

Court relied on the fact that “it was only after [the employee] had left that . . . [the 

employer] learned that he had been soliciting for [the rival] union.”  Id. at 537.  In 

contrast, here, the Company knew that Hershey was commenting on working 

conditions with his signs, that others began discussing them, and discharged 

Hershey to stop these discussions.  Moreover, company officials admitted they 

discharged Hershey because his signs were causing employees to talk with each 

other, “stirring up the crowd” and “getting them riled up” about the conditions of 

employment noted in Hershey’s signs.  (A. 11; 1091, 1101.)   It was precisely this 

kind of “chatter” that the Company sought to eliminate by discharging Hershey.  

Similarly, in Air Surrey v. NLRB, 601 F.2d 256 (6th Cir. 1979), the 

employer was unaware that the discharged employee was engaged in protected 

concerted activity.  After employees’ paychecks were returned for insufficient 

funds, a group of concerned employees visited the bank and one employee entered 

the bank and asked the bank about the employer’s funds.  When the employer 
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learned of the bank visit, and only one employee admitted to the bank inquiry, the 

employer fired that employee, unaware that others had participated in the activity.  

Because the employer was unaware of the concerted activity, particularly that other 

employees participated, its discharge of the lone employee who admitted to the 

conduct was not unlawful.  Id. at 257.  This Court held that it is “the employer’s 

knowledge of an employee’s protected activity and his subsequent discharge of the 

employee for engaging in such activity which violates the Act.”  Id. at 257.  Here, 

again, the Company was aware that Hershey’s signs reflected the group concerns 

about working conditions that had been the subject of his radio conversation with 

Pledger on January 7, the subject of a work stoppage by all the drivers in February, 

and the topic of a safety meeting held with the quarry drivers only two days before 

his discharge.  Given that bulk of credited evidence, the Company cannot now 

claim that it was unaware that Hershey’s conduct was protected concerted activity.  

So too, there is no merit to the Company’s suggestion (Br. 18-23), that the 

Board can find a discharge violates Section 8(a)(1) only after an explicit finding 

has been made that the employee engaged in protected concerted activity.  As fully 

discussed, Court and Board precedent holds that an employer violates the Act 

when it acts on a belief that the employee engaged in protected concerted activity, 

even if the belief is mistaken and the employee did not in fact engage in such 

activity.  See pp. 29-32, above.  See also Liberty Ashes & Rubbish Co., Inc., 323 
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NLRB 9, 11 (1997) (the Board need not resolve issue of whether a discharged 

employee was in fact engaged in concerted activity when evidence establishes 

employer discharged employee in the belief he was engaged in protected concerted 

activity); NLRB v. Ritchie Mfg. Co., 354 F.2d 90, 98 (8th Cir. 1965) (proof of an 

unlawful discharge does not require proof of actual protected activity; “once it is 

shown that suspected [protected] activity was what motivated” the discharge”);  

Parexel, 2011 WL 288784, at *8 (employer unlawfully discharged employee to 

prevent her from exercising her Section 7 rights, even assuming she “had not yet 

engaged in protected concerted activity at the time of her discharge”).  

Similarly, there is no viability to the Company’s argument (Br. 20, 29) that 

they could not have believed that the display of the signs was concerted activity.  

Generally, an employee’s action qualifies as “concerted” if it bears some 

relationship to actual or planned group activity.  Myers Ind., 281 NLRB at 887; see 

also Lloyd A. Fry Roofing Co., 651 F.2d at 445 (“An individual employee’s 

complaint is ‘concerted’ if it is related to group action for the mutual aid or 

protection of other employees.”)  Clearly, here the Company was concerned about 

employees’ response to the signs and “chatter” about working conditions.  See pp. 

31-33.   Given that record evidence, their claim must fail. 6 

6 While the Company notes (Br. 23, 35) that the Lou’s Transport drivers were 
represented by a union, the other half of the drivers from T.K.M.S. were not.  The 
employer does not assert, nor could it, that the presence of a union eliminates the 
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The Company fares no better with its argument (Br. 23-24) that because 

Hershey intended his signs to be humorous and boost morale, his signs were not 

protected concerted activity.  This argument is beside the point because, as shown 

above, proof of actual protected activity does not need to be shown and “[a]n 

employee’s subjective characterization of his reason for engaging in conduct 

cannot be dispositive of the question whether his conduct is protected.”  NLRB v. 

Mike Yurosek & Son, Inc., 53 F.3d 261, 266 (9th Cir. 1995).  Moreover, the 

“recognition of the relationship between employee morale and group activity is 

part of the fabric of the Board’s jurisprudence.”  Alternative Energy Applications, 

Inc., 361 NLRB No. 139, 2014 WL 7246753, at * 4 n.10 (2014).  Indeed, the 

connection between low morale and group activity is recognized in the legislative 

history of the Act.  Beth Israel Hospital v. NLRB, 437 U.S. 483, 497-498 (1978) 

(noting that Congress extended bargaining rights to hospital employees as a way to 

ameliorate low morale in the industry).  Likewise, the use of humor to get across 

employees’ right to engage in protected concerted activity because the rights 
conferred by Section 7 explicitly includes employees’ distinct right to engage in 
“concerted activities for . . . mutual aid or protection” that are unrelated to union 
activity.  See McEver Eng’g, Inc., 784 F.2d at 639 (“The guarantees and protection 
of section 7 are afforded equally to nonunion employees and union employees. . . 
.”); NLRB v. Okla-Inn, 488 F.2d 498, 502 (10th Cir. 1973) (Section 7 protects 
concerted activity “regardless of whether [the] activity is channeled through a 
union, through collective bargaining, or through some other means.”); Joanna 
Cotton Mills Co. v. NLRB, 176 F.2d 749, 752 (4th Cir. 1949) (“‘concerted 
activities’ . . . are not limited to cases where the employees are acting through 
unions”). 
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employees’ concerns is not unusual in presenting employees’ complaints and does 

not remove it from the Act’s protection.  See, e.g., RAI Research Corp., 257 NLRB 

918, 918 n.3 (1981) (display of sign in the windshield of his vehicle reading 

“Please Don’t Feed the Management.  They Only Suck Blood” constituted 

protected concerted activity), enforced mem., 688 F.2d 816 (2d Cir. 1982) (table).7  

The record here demonstrates that employees were amused by the signs (A. 16), 

but further demonstrates, as J. Laming admitted, that the signs precipitated 

discussions among the drivers which the Company sought to end. 

In sum, substantial evidence supports the Board’s finding that the Company 

knew that Hershey displayed signs in his truck that were critical of the working 

conditions at the Company, and that it believed that Hershey continued to engage 

in protected concerted activity by “stir[ring] up the crowd” and creating chatter 

about those conditions and that it discharged Hershey based on that belief.  The 

Company has presented the Court with no basis to disturb the Board’s well-

supported findings in this case, which therefore must be upheld. 

  

7 The Company is flatly unpersuasive in claiming (Br. 25-26) that Hershey’s signs 
were offensive and “discriminatory in nature” because one of the signs stated, 
“carpetmuncher,” a slang term for a lesbian.  The record is clear that the use of 
questionable language was commonplace at the quarry.  (A. 791-92, 857, 892, 949, 
966-67, 988.)   Moreover, the Board expressly found (A. 24) that the Company did 
not claim that Hershey was discharged because of those signs.  
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Board respectfully requests that the Court 

enter a judgment denying the Company’s petition for review and enforcing the 

Board’s Order in full.  
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